**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM THE RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000569

RECEIVED
MAY 31 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Country Properties, LLC.....Appellant,

vs.

Nancy Dunn Martin.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Brent McDonald, Esquire (S.C. Bar 78057)
Bundy McDonald, LLC
1516 Old Trolley Road, 2nd Floor
Summerville, SC 29485
Phone:843-492-0221
brent@bundymcdonald.com

John W. Wells, Esquire
Baxley, Pratt & Wells, P.A
P.O. Box 10
Lugoff, SC 29078
jwells@baxleywells.com

Attorneys for Appellant

May 31, 2019

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in granting a new trial based upon alleged newly discovered evidence because the evidence will not change the result in a new trial and the evidence is immaterial to the elements of an easement by express grant, easement by prescription or an easement by public dedication.**
- II. The trial court erred in ruling that Appellant based its claim to the easement on necessity.**
- III. The trial court erred in granting a new trial based upon alleged newly discovered evidence because the evidence is at best cumulative.**
- IV. The trial court erred in granting a new trial based upon alleged newly discovered evidence because the alleged newly discovered evidence is not new evidence.**
- V. The Court erred in ruling that the Respondent met its burden of proof for relief under Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying action was originally filed by Appellant Country Properties, LLC (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “Country Properties”) on March 18, 2014. (*See* Complaint R. p.). Country Properties sought three separate declarations from the trial court. (*Id.*) It sought to establish the following: (1) an easement by express grant; (2) a prescriptive easement; and (3) an easement by public dedication over the property of Respondent Nancy Dunn Martin (hereinafter “Respondent”). (*Id.*) Though the three theories of recovery are distinct in their elements and proof, they each result in the same outcome—Country Properties would have the right to access its property over the property of Respondent. Country Properties also sought relief in the form of an injunction that would prohibit Respondent from blocking or obstructing the easement. (*Id.*) Respondent answered the complaint and counterclaimed on May 21, 2014. (*See* Answer and Counterclaim R. p.). The Answer was a general denial with certain other affirmative defenses. (*Id.*) The counterclaim was for adverse possession or prescription by a servient tenement. (*Id.*)

Country Properties filed a Reply to the counterclaim on May 29, 2014. (*See* Reply R. p.).

By order of the Honorable L. Casey Manning, the action was referred to the Master in Equity for Richland County, Judge Joseph M. Strickland. (*See* Order of Reference R. p.).

The case tried was tried before Judge Strickland on March 21-24, 2016. The trial court entered its Final Order on September 27, 2016 (“Final Order”). (*See* Final Order R. p.). The Final Order found that Country Properties had an express easement over the property of Respondent, an easement by prescription over the property of Respondent, and that the road in question was dedicated to the public. (*Id.*). Specifically, the Final Order made no distinction in the relief ordered for the express easement and easement by prescription. The trial court held as follows:

“ORDER

Based upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is ordered:

1. That the Plaintiff has a private twenty (20) foot wide easement across the lands of the Defendant to use the disputed portion of Northeast Shady Grove Road from the end of county maintenance sign to the Plaintiff’s southern property line as shown on the 2004 Gonzales plat, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2. The Defendant is enjoined from obstructing the Plaintiff’s use of the road by a locked gate or any other device. To the extent that the Defendant keeps a gate across said road, the Defendant is ordered to provide the Plaintiff with a means of opening the gate within thirty (3) days of the signing of this order. This easement is appurtenant to the tract now owned by the Plaintiff and shall run with the land to the Plaintiff’s successors and assigns;
2. Northeast Shady Grove Road from the end of county maintenance sign to the Plaintiff’s southern property line as shown on the 2004 Gonzales plat, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2, is declared to be a public road open to the public for use by the public, provided that Richland County is not required by this order to provide maintenance services to the portion of Northeast Shady Grove Road past its end of County maintenance sign. The Defendant is ordered to remove her gate from this road within thirty (30) days of the signing of this order.”

(*Id* at p. 31 R. p.).

Respondent filed a Rule 59(e) and Rule 52(b), SCRCF, motion on November 9, 2016. (R. p.). That motion was denied by the trial court on July 21, 2017. (Order denying Respondent’s

Post-Trial Motion R. p.). Respondent served a Notice of Appeal on August 22, 2017 (“First Appeal”)(R. p.). On August 30, 2017, Respondent filed a motion with this Court for leave to file a Rule 60(b)(2)-(3), SCRCPC motion for relief with the trial court. (R. p.) This Court granted the Motion for leave to file the Rule 60(b) motion on October 5, 2017 and stayed the First Appeal. (R. p.) Respondent then filed the Rule 60(b) motion with the trial court on October 24, 2017 (R. p.). Country Properties filed a memorandum in opposition to the Rule 60 motion. (R. p.). On July 18, 2018, counsel for Country Properties and Respondent appeared before Judge Strickland for a hearing on the Rule 60(b) Motion. (Transcript of July 18, 2018 Hearing R. p.). On January 28, 2019, Judge Strickland entered an order granting the Rule 60(b) motion and ordered a new trial. (See Order Granting Rule 60(b) Motion R. p.). On February 6, 2019, Country Properties filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPC, Motion to Alter or Amend the Order granting the new trial. (R. p.). On March 14, 2019, a hearing was held on that motion. (Transcript of March 14, 2019 Hearing R. p.). Judge Strickland denied the Rule 59(e) motion on March 20, 2019 (Order Denying Rule 59(e) Motion R. p.). On March 26, 2019, Country Properties filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order Granting the Rule 60(b) motion and the Order Denying the Rule 59(e) Motion (“Second Appeal”).

There is no monetary amount in controversy in this action as it is for declaratory and injunctive relief. There has not been any change in parties throughout the pendency of this action or appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether to grant or deny a motion under Rule 60(b) lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 494, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992); *Southeastern Housing Foundation v. Smith*, 380 S.C. 621, 670 S.E.2d 680 (Ct.App. 2008). Likewise, the decision to grant or deny a new trial motion lies within the discretion of the trial court. *Stevens v. Allen*, 336

S.C. 439, 446, 520 S.E.2d 625, 628-29 (Ct.App. 1999). Therefore, this Court's standard of review is to determine whether there was an abuse of discretion. *Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 17-18, 594 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004). An abuse of discretion occurs when there is an error of law or a factual conclusion which is without evidentiary support. *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997).

FACTS

The facts pertinent to the present appeal relate to a dam or dike existing at times on Country Properties' property on Raglin Creek. Country Properties' property is bisected by Raglin Creek. (Final Order p. 5, R. p.). The northern portion is in Kershaw County and the Southern portion is in Richland County. (Id.) The disputed road in question in the present case, Northeast Shady Grove Road, is a road and easement to the southern portion of the Country Properties' property over the lands of the Respondent. (Id at 6 R. p.). At trial there was evidence offered that the dam or dike was washed out and rebuilt over the years. (See Trial Transcript, p. 357, line 22-p. 359, line 12 R. p. ; see also Trial Transcript, p. 94, line 10-p. 95, line 18 R. p.; see also Trial Transcript, pp. 109-110 R. pp. ; Trial Transcript, pp. 142-144 R. pp. ; Trial Transcript p. 338 R. p. ; Trial Transcript, p. 345 R. p. ; Trial Transcript, p. 352 R. p.).

Respondent testified at trial that when the dam or dike was in good repair it could provide a way of accessing the southern part of the Country Properties' property from the northern portion. (Trial Transcript, pp. 454-455 R. pp.). At the time of the trial, Country Properties member, James Podell, testified that the dam had been washed out by the October 2015 heavy rains. (Trial Transcript, pp. 357-359 R. pp.).

When the trial court issued its Final Order, Respondent again argued in her post-trial motions that Country Properties had additional access. (Respondent's Post-Trial Motions pp. 1-2

R. pp.).

After the issuance of the Final Order, the denial of Respondent's post-trial motions, and five days after the filing of a Notice of Appeal in the First Appeal, Respondent caused a picture to be taken by a drone operator of the dam on Country Properties' property. (Rule 60(b) Motion R. p.). Respondent asserted that this was "newly discovered evidence" that the dam had once again been rebuilt since trial. (Id.) Based upon this alone, Respondent requested a new trial pursuant to Rule 60(b).

ARGUMENT

"Whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter."

-Chief Judge Sanders writing in *McCall v. Finley*,
294 S.C. 1, 362 S.E.2d (Ct.App. 1987).

I. The trial court erred in granting a new trial based upon alleged newly discovered evidence because the evidence will not change the result in a new trial and the evidence is immaterial to the elements of an easement by express grant, easement by prescription or an easement by public dedication.

The first and perhaps most fundamental abuse of discretion in the trial court's ordering of a new trial is found in the fact that none of the causes of action pled by Country Properties and found to be established by the trial court in the Final Order are defeated by some new additional means of access to the Country Properties' property. Additional or alternative access is not a defense to an express easement, a prescriptive easement or a public dedication. Notwithstanding this legal reality, the new additional means of access served as the sole basis upon which the trial court based its grant of a new trial pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC. This was error.

The *McCall v. Finley* statement of judicial procedure, cited above, is squarely found rooted in the standard for relief under Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC. In *Lanier v. Lanier*, 612 S.E.2d 456, 459, 364 S.C. 211 (2005) the South Carolina Supreme Court established the standard for relief under

Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCF as follows: “To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a movant must establish that the newly discovered evidence: **(1) will probably change the result if a new trial is granted;** (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial; (4) **is material to the issue;** and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” (Emphasis supplied). The trial court abused its discretion in finding that Respondent met these elements.

a. An additional way to access the Appellant’s property is not material to an easement by express grant and will not change the result in a new trial.

An easement is a right given to a person to use the land of another for a specific purpose. *Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 232, 662 S.E.2d 452, 455 (Ct.App.2008). An easement may arise in three ways: (1) by grant; (2) from necessity; and (3) by prescription. *Frierson v. Watson*, 371 S.C. 60, 67, 636 S.E.2d 872, 875 (Ct.App.2006). “A reservation of an easement in a deed by which lands are conveyed is equivalent, for the purpose of the creation of the easement, to an express grant of the easement by the grantee of the lands.” *Id.* (quoting *Sandy Island Corp. v. Ragsdale*, 246 S.C. 414, 419, 143 S.E.2d 803, 806 (1965)). “As a general rule, to constitute a grant of an easement, any words clearly showing the intention to grant an easement are sufficient.” *Ten Woodruff Oaks v. Point Development*, 683 S.E.2d 510, 385 S.C. 172 (S.C. App., 2009). “Whether a grant in a written instrument creates an easement and the type of easement created are to be determined by ascertaining the intention of the parties as gathered from the language of the instrument; the grant should be construed so as to carry out that intention.” *Id.*

In the Final Order, the trial court found that Country Properties’ chain of title and Respondent’s chain of title established a specifically located twenty (20) foot wide express easement by grant. (Final Order, pp. 24-26 R. pp.). The evidentiary basis for this finding was as follows:

Plaintiff's Chain

Plaintiff Ex.1
Plaintiff Ex. 18
Plaintiff Ex. 19
Plaintiff Ex. 17
Plaintiff Ex. 15
Plaintiff Ex. 16
Plaintiff Ex. 14
Plaintiff Ex. 13
Plaintiff Ex. 12
Plaintiff Ex. 11
Williams, pp. 36-49
Plaintiff Ex. 9
Plaintiff Ex. 10
Plaintiff Ex. 7
Plaintiff Ex. 8
Williams, pp. 27-28
Plaintiff Ex. 5
Plaintiff Ex. 6
Plaintiff Ex. 4
Plaintiff Ex. 3
Plaintiff Ex. 2

Defendant's Chain

Plaintiff's Ex. 20
Plaintiff Ex. 18
Plaintiff Ex. 19
Plaintiff Ex. 29
Plaintiff Ex. 28
Plaintiff Ex. 27
Williams, p. 60
Plaintiff's Ex. 26
Plaintiff's Ex. 25
Plaintiff's Ex. 24
Plaintiff's Ex. 21

"Lewis" Chain

Plaintiff's Ex. 30
Plaintiff's Ex. 36
Plaintiff's Ex. 37
Plaintiff's Ex. 35
Plaintiff's Ex. 34
Williams, pp. 66-67
Plaintiff's Ex. 32
Williams, pp. 64-65
Plaintiff's Ex. 31

(Plaintiff's Chain R. pp. ; Defendant's Chain R. pp.; Lewis Chain R. pp.).

The existence of a new additional means of access is immaterial to the trial court's finding of an express easement by grant. Alternative means of access or additional easements are not relevant to establishing a specifically located easement by grant. Likewise, the repaired dam will not change the result in a new trial. How can it be argued that the trial court will read the deeds differently because a dam has been repaired? The deeds will be the same deeds admitted into evidence in the trial of this matter and the repaired dam will not and cannot change their language. Importantly, because the Court found the same twenty (20) foot wide easement pursuant to an express grant and prescriptive easement, discussed below, the finding of the express grant easement precludes any way for the Respondent to prove that the result will change in a new trial. As such, the trial court abused its discretion in granting the Rule 60(b) motion and in granting a

new trial based on newly discovered evidence that is immaterial to the finding of an easement by express grant and newly discovered evidence that will not and cannot change the result in a new trial.

b. An additional way to access the Appellant's property is not material to an easement by prescription and will not change the result in a new trial.

In order to establish a prescriptive easement, the claimant must identify the thing enjoyed, and show his use has been open, notorious, continuous, uninterrupted, and contrary to the true property owner's rights for a period of twenty years. *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 797 S.E.2d 387 (2016). The establishment of a prescriptive easement must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 772 S.E.2d 163 (2015).

The elements of a prescriptive easement are not related to nor dependent upon the existence or non-existence of an additional means of access. A new trial with evidence of a repaired dam will not change the outcome of the prescriptive easement finding as the repaired dam is immaterial to the establishment of a prescriptive easement. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in granting the Rule 60(b) motion and in granting a new trial.

c. An additional way to access the Appellant's property is not material to a finding of public dedication and will not change the result in a new trial.

“No particular formality is necessary to effect a common law dedication.” *Boyd v. Hyatt*, 294 S.C. 360, 364, 364 S.E.2d 478, 480 (Ct.App.1988). “An intention to dedicate may be implied from the circumstances.” *Id.* “Any act or declaration on the part of the dedicator which fully demonstrates his intention to appropriate land to public use, or from which a reasonable inference of his intent to dedicate may be drawn, is sufficient.” *Id.* “However, absent an express grant, one who asserts a dedication must demonstrate conduct on the part of the landowner clearly, convincingly and unequivocally indicating the owner's intention to create a right in the public to

use the property in question adversely to the owner.” *Id.*

“South Carolina law recognizes two types of implied dedication—one where the question of implied dedication arises from the sale of land with reference to maps or plats; the other when the dedication arises ... from an abandonment to or acquiescence in public use.” *Town of Kingstree v. Chapman*, 405 S.C. 282, 747 S.E.2d 494 (S.C. App., 2013). “A dedication need not be made by deed or other writing but may be effectually made by acts or declarations.” *Id.* “Intent to dedicate may also be implied from long public use of the land to which the owner acquiesces.” *Id.* “As with intention to dedicate, no formal acceptance by a public authority is necessary to show public acceptance. Acceptance may be implied by the public or a public authority continuously using or repairing the property.” *Id.* “The use, repair, and working of the streets by public authorities is a mode of acceptance.” *Id.*

The elements of public dedication are not related to nor dependent upon the existence or non-existence of an additional means of access to or on private property. It is impossible to imagine how the alleged repair of a private dam on private property would change a finding that a road is a public road. Indeed, the offer of dedication was found to have been made by “Defendant and her predecessors” and accepted by “members of the public” and the receipt of “regular public maintenance”. (Final Order pp. 27-28 R. pp.). Nowhere is the conduct of Country Properties relevant to the offer and acceptance of the public dedication. Country Properties cannot by repairing a dam divest the public of a public road.

A new trial with evidence of a repaired dam will not change the outcome of the public dedication finding as the repaired dam is immaterial to the public dedication of the road in question. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in granting the Rule 60(b), SCRCF motion and in granting a new trial.

II. The trial court erred in ruling that Appellant based its claim to the easement on necessity.

In the trial court's order granting the Rule 60(b), SCRC, motion and ordering a new trial, the Court focused primarily on whether or not the alleged newly discovered evidence "eliminat[ed] any need for Plaintiff to traverse [Defendant's] property". (Order Granting Rule 60(b) Motion p. 4 R. p.). The trial court stated "[t]his development suggests that the Plaintiff's need for the use of the Defendant's property may be significantly less than indicated at trial." (Order Granting Rule 60(b) Motion p. 3 R. p.). Indeed, the Court concluded that "[t]he evidence now suggests the Plaintiff can access all of its property via routes that do not transect Martin's property, which changes the court's analysis." (Order Granting Rule 60(b) Motion p. 4 R. p.). This focus and basis for ordering a new trial was in error.

First, need and necessity, as shown above, are not material to a claim for an express easement, prescriptive easement or public dedication. Second, this issue of need or necessity was expressly addressed by the parties and the trial court at the trial of this matter as follows:

"THE COURT: Now does the -- does the fact that the dam was washed away, and I think Mr. Floyd said a road as well, does that change anything as far as your theory, Mr. Wells?"

MR. WELLS [Appellant Attorney]: Judge, we never claimed -- we did not claim a easement by necessity, which is an easement because he has no other access. So I don't think that changes the law in the case."

(Trial Transcript, p. 18, line 15-22 R. p.).

It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to base its sole reason for ordering a new trial on the absence or existence of necessity or need for access when no such cause of action (i.e. a claim for easement by necessity) was claimed by Country Properties at the trial of the action and need and necessity are not legal elements of or defenses to the types of easements actually claimed and found in the Final Order.

III. The trial court erred in granting a new trial based upon alleged newly discovered evidence because the evidence is at best cumulative.

“To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a movant must establish that the newly discovered evidence: (1) will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material to the issue; and (5) **is not merely cumulative or impeaching.**” *Lanier*, 612 S.E.2d at 459. (Emphasis supplied).

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