THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000569  
Civil Action No.: 2014-CP-40-01805

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 23 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Country Properties, LLC, .....Appellant,

v.

Nancy Dunn Martin, .....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Joey R. Floyd  
Chelsea J. Clark  
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC  
P.O. Box 61110  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 252-7693  
*Attorneys for Respondent*

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

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

### ARGUMENT

Ultimately, property rights and personal rights are the same thing.

—Calvin Coolidge<sup>3</sup>

Appellant emphatically states that it has never claimed to *need* use of Respondent’s private road to access its property. (*See, e.g.*, App. Initial Br. at p. 10). Presumably then, the reason Appellant has forced Respondent to participate in years of litigation to protect her property rights is either mere convenience or simple antagonism.<sup>4</sup> The final order entered in this case resulted

---

<sup>3</sup> Calvin Coolidge, Have Faith in Massachusetts: Massachusetts Senate President Acceptance Speech (Jan. 7, 1914), *available at* <https://www.coolidgefoundation.org/resources/have-faith-in-massachusetts/>.

<sup>4</sup> Notably, Appellant’s member, Mr. Podell, testified on cross that when he was denied permission to access to Respondent’s private property—which he does not claim to actually need—he twice cut the chain on her gate and added his own lock. (R. p. 209, l. 20–p. 347, l. 2). This property

from a bench trial and reflected the narrative Appellant put forward at trial: Raglin Creek forms a natural barrier that bisects Appellant's property along the county line and prevents Appellant from having access to the Richland County side of its land. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 165, l. 1–p. 166, l. 5 (Appellant's opening statement, wherein counsel described the creek and dam and stated, "we claim it's an inadequate access to get to our property down here."); p. 195, ll. 11–12 (wherein Appellant's attorney elicited testimony that Raglin Creek is "a barrier to breaching that side of the property"); p. 203, ll. 2–4 (wherein Appellant's attorney elicited testimony about not being to use the creek dam to export timber from the Richland County side of Appellant's property); and p. 204, l. 20–p. 206, l. 1 (wherein Appellant's member testified on direct about the creek, the difficulty of crossing it, and the fear his wife had of driving across)). Respondent's new evidence goes to contradict the theme of Appellant's trial presentation and the court's resulting order. Yet, Appellant now argues that the theme of its case is entirely immaterial to its legal theories. Respondent's evidence calls into question Appellant's credibility and the legal sufficiency of its evidence. A trial is a search for the truth—disparateness in testimony goes to the weight and credibility of testimony and the finder of fact is given broad discretion in determining credibility or believability. *See Small v. Pioneer Mach.*, 329 S.C. 448, 465, 494 S.E.2d 835, 843 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 479, 450 S.E.2d 609 (Ct. App. 1994) and *Hanna v. Palmetto Homes, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 535, 389 S.E.2d 164 (Ct. App. 1990)). Judge Strickland has the discretion to correct injustice pursuant to Rule 60(b) and he rightly determined that Respondent is entitled to a new trial.

---

damage was done without resort to any legal authority, and demonstrates a lack of respect for the rights of his neighbors and the rule of law.

**I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BASED ON NEW EVIDENCE.**

The trial court granted Respondent a new trial pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2), which provides that “the court may relieve a party . . . from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: . . . (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)[.]” Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC. This Court has adopted the following test for this rule:

To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a movant must establish that the newly discovered evidence:

- (1) will probably change the result if a new trial is granted;
- (2) has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) could not have been discovered before the trial;
- (4) is material to the issue; and
- (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

*Lanier v. Lanier*, 364 S.C. 211, 217, 612 S.E.2d 456, 459 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 484 (2nd ed. 1996)). Judge Strickland addressed these elements in his order granting Respondent a new trial on January 26, 2019. (R. pp. 42–44). He noted that the new evidence would likely change the outcome of a new trial. (R. p. 43). While it is true that necessity is not, in and of itself, an element in Appellant’s causes of action, *need* can and did play an important role in the circumstances that led the lower court to initially rule in Appellant’s favor. Property law is always influenced by the surroundings and characteristics of the property with which it is concerned. The need of one party or group versus the other is the origin point of almost every legal doctrine or mechanism that infringes on the otherwise inviolate rights of property owners to do what they will with and on their land. Need gives rise to eminent domain, to the exigent circumstances exception to warrant requirements, and to the dedication of public roads. Need—even if it does not rise to the legal definition of necessity—is nonetheless usually the impetus underlying a request for an easement by grant, the adverse behavior leading to

a prescriptive easement, or the willingness of a county to take on maintenance of a new section of road. Thus, even when necessity is not a required legal conclusion, need may still be a foundational finding of fact. *Cf.* Rule 401, SCRE (stating that evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”).

Appellant clearly relied on this logic when presenting its case to the lower court. However, Respondent was surprised by Appellant’s reliance on evidence relating to need at trial—particularly given that Respondent had previously been able to easily traverse the dam Appellant claimed had washed out at trial. (*See R.* at p. 228, ll. 4–9). The change in circumstances of the dam alleged at trial inspired Respondent to search for new evidence. That evidence throws a great deal of new light on the factual foundation for Appellant’s case and will likely change the result of Judge Strickland’s earlier final order.

**a. The trial court properly concluded that the new evidence will likely change the result in a new trial.**

In determining whether to grant a motion for a new trial, the judge is given great discretion—even in criminal cases. *See State v. Smith*, 316 S.C. 53, 55, 447 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1994) (citing *State v. Simmons*, 279 S.C. 165, 303 S.E.2d 857 (1983)) (“It is well settled that the grant or refusal of a new trial is within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion.”). There are many possible reasons for this broad discretion, not the least of which is the fact that trial judges have the best vantage point to assess witness credibility and the weight to be assigned to the evidence presented. *See Williams v. Moore*, 400 S.C. 90, 102, 733 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 191–92, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 2008)) (stating in a property case that “[q]uestions

regarding credibility and weight of evidence are exclusively for the trial judge”). This is no doubt especially true in a bench trial. *Id.*

Appellant is now seeking to renounce the narrative theme of its presentation to the lower court, arguing that all the evidence it presented and argued in relation to Raglin Creek and the dam is not relevant to the legal queries at play. This argument ignores the fact that evidence that shows a lack of full candor with the court by making a showing of need where there is none, could in and of itself be enough to change the outcome of a case because it has the potential to shift completely the weight and credibility of the evidence. Such a determination is entirely within the purview of the lower court that heard and solely decided the case. Judge Strickland reached the conclusion that this new evidence will probably change the outcome in a new trial and no one is more qualified to reach this conclusion than the fact-finder in the underlying order.

The new evidence offered by Respondent not only casts doubt on Appellant’s narrative of the facts at trial and in its proposed order, it casts doubt on the existence of any prescriptive easement. Appellant has sought access to drive through the middle of Respondent’s land based on three theories, the first of which is easement by prescription. A prescriptive easement is established by the conduct of the dominant estate owner. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 304, 772 S.E.2d 163, 169–70 (2015) (quoting *Boyd v. BellSouth Tel. Tel. Co.*, 369 S.C. 410, 419, 633 S.E.2d 136, 141 (2006)). There are three elements of a prescriptive easement: “(1) continued and uninterrupted use or enjoyment of the right for a period of twenty years; (2) the identity of the thing enjoyed; and (3) use or enjoyment which is either adverse or under claim of right.” *Id.* (citing *Pittman v. Lowther*, 363 S.C. 47, 50, 610 S.E.2d 479, 480 (2005)). Because a finding of a prescriptive easement forcefully deprives a servient property owner of their rights, the evidence standard is clear and convincing. *Id.*, at 306, 772 S.E.2d at 170.

Appellant did not prove these elements by clear and convincing evidence at the trial, but this failure is cast into even greater relief by the new evidence offered by Respondent. Particularly, the photos of the fully functional and traversable dam show that it is quite likely Appellant does not need to use Respondent's road and quite likely has not maintained the kind of continuous use needed for a prescriptive easement. Indeed, the new evidence casts serious doubt on any findings and conclusions supporting that first element because, it appears the record in the case that the lower court extrapolated adverse use of Respondent's road based on testimony that Appellant had to use her road to get to the Richland County side of its property. The court expressly found, "the 383 acres of the Plaintiff's tract located south of Raglin Creek in Richland County has no access except via the easement that the Plaintiff seeks to establish in this action." (R. p. 10, para. 6). The court also concluded that a prescriptive easement was imposed based on the "totality of the circumstances." (R. p. 28). Where one believes that a portion of property is *only* accessible by one route, and one believes that an owner *has* accessed that portion of property, one must make the inference that use of that single route occurred. The photos showing a perfectly useable dam contradict Appellant's contentions that it had no choice but to use Respondent's road for such activities as logging and suggests that any use of Respondent's road would have been patchy and disconnected.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant argues that the trial court erred in basing its ruling on the Rule 60(b)(2) motion on an easement of necessity. As explained, evidence of *need* can affect rulings on issues not related to an easement by necessity. Nowhere in the lower court's recent orders was there any mention of an easement by necessity. Moreover, if any of the lower court's order wrongly relied on an easement by necessity, it would be the final order that Respondent has appealed. That order, proposed by Appellant, emphasized repeatedly that Appellant has no means to access the Richland County side of its land, demarcated by the creek, except Respondent's road. *See* Argument I, subpart c, *supra*. Appellant should be estopped from this hypocritical argument because it expressly stated in its opening statement at trial, "we claim it's an inadequate access to get to our property down here." (R. p. 166, ll. 2-4). What else but a claim of easement by necessity could this be?

**b. The trial court properly found that Respondent's evidence was new and could not have been discovered before trial.**

On its face, Rule 60(b)(2) requires that evidence relied upon to grant relief must be "newly discovered evidence which *by due diligence* could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b)." Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCP (emphasis added). There are several reasons that Respondent met this requirement. Prior to trial, Respondent was given the opportunity to inspect Appellant's property, including the creek and dam in question. When she visited the property, she crossed the fully functional dam. (See R. p. 228, ll. 4–9). Respondent had no reason prior to trial to believe that changed, nor did she have further opportunity or reason to see or inspect the dam, which lies in the middle of Appellant's one-thousand-acre estate. Prior to trial, Appellant had listed repairs to the dam in its discovery, but never updated the discovery regarding any further damage or repairs. (See R. pp. 159–61).

Appellant correctly argues that it did not plead easement by necessity and Respondent was somewhat surprised to observe the emphasis placed on the *need* to use her road as justification for an easement by prescription, by deed, or by public dedication. Appellant's member testified in detail about the "wash-out" of the dam at trial and entered a photo of the dam into evidence. (See R. pp. 212–21; 360). Mr. Podell stated that the dam fell into disrepair in relation to a storm or the October 2015 flood. (R. p. 219, ll. 8–12). Prior to this "wash-out" the Appellant had spent \$70,000 bolstering and improving the dam. (See R. p. 212, ll. 1–18). Prior to Mr. Podell's testimony, Respondent had every reason to believe that the dam was as solid as it was after the \$70,000 of repairs, like it was when she was able to visit. To date, Respondent has no way to know precisely when the repairs were completed, and Appellant has declined to provide any clarification on that point despite its arguments about the timing of the new evidence. Respondent could not have discovered the new evidence with due diligence prior to trial because she had made efforts to

ascertain the state of the dam and was never given any indication that further inspection would be necessary or as important to Appellant's case as it turned out to be. Further, the discovery of the new evidence required the use of a drone to obtain footage of the dam—not something that would fall within the normal parameters of discovery or documentation prior to a bench trial on an easement. There is no doubt that Respondent met the standard for new evidence in Rule 60(b)(2).

**c. Evidence about the Raglin Creek dam is material, had a significant impact on the lower court's final order, and is not cumulative.**

There is also no doubt that the evidence is new and material. "Material" is defined as "Having some logical connection with the consequential facts" or "Of such a nature that knowledge of the item would affect a person's decision-making . . . ." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1066 (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009). Judge Strickland noted at the hearing for Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend that he was "convinced that something – something I didn't hear about at the trial was – actually had taken place." (R. p. 259, l. 24–p. 260, l. 6). The trial court's order addressed in great detail Raglin Creek and the dam across it. Indeed, in the conclusion, the order stated that Respondent's private property has been used by the Plaintiff to reach the "portion of the Plaintiff's property lying south of Raglin Creek in Richland County, which creek has obstructed access to this portion of the Plaintiff's property from U.S. Highway 601 for most of that seventy year period." (R. p. 35). This was the final in a long string of references to the creek and its "natural barrier." Evidence that directly bears on the status of the dam and Appellant's access to its property must necessarily be material to an order which discusses that same matter in such detail. (*See* R. pp. 10–12). Moreover, where that evidence *directly contradicts* Appellant's statements about the disrepair of the dam at trial, it cannot be cumulative. The aerial photos show a fully functional dam, while Appellant testified at trial that it was "washed out." Respondent has successfully cast doubt on Appellant's presentation of testimony and evidence at trial; Respondent has successfully